1980

Leo Duran v. Lawrence Morris, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant, LEO DURAN, appeals from a dismissal with prejudice of a petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus, in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Third Judicial District, on December 5, 1979, the Honorable David K. Winder, Judge presiding, ordered that the Appellant's petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus be denied. The Court found as follows: no violation of petitioner's constitutional rights in the manner in which he was placed and has been held in maximum security at the Utah State Prison; and, no violation of petitioner's constitutional rights in the manner in which the Board of Pardons set petitioner's new parole date.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the Court's order dismissing the petition for his Writ of Habeas Corpus.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant, LEO DURAN, was on and before June 27, 1979, housed in the medium security section of the Utah State Prison. On June 27, 1979, Appellant was transferred to the maximum security section pending an investigation of an alleged stabbing at the correctional facility. On August 31, 1979, the Appellant filed a petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On September 17, 1979, the Appellant received a copy of an Inmate Violation Report and Notice of Hearing, a copy of said notice is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit A, and by this reference made a part hereof. On September 19, 1979, a hearing was held and an order entered which in part reduced the Appellant's classification to maximum security. A copy of the disposition hearing form is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit B, and by this reference made a part hereof.

The Appellant has been housed in the maximum security section of the Utah State Prison from June 27, 1979 to a date subsequent to the hearing of this petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus before the District Court in December of 1979. On or about thirty (30) days after the Appellant's transfer and detention

in maximum security, the Appellant was re-classified to the status of maximum security. The records and reports pertaining to such re-classification were not made available to counsel.

On August 17, 1979, the Appellant requested to be classified for transfer back to medium security and his request was denied on the grounds that an investigation of the alleged stabbing had not been completed. A copy of the classification review report of August 17, 1979, is attached hereto, marked Exhibit C and by this reference made a part hereof.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PETITIONER'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
AND THE POLICY AND PROCEDURE OF THE UTAH
STATE PRISON WERE VIOLATED BY THE
DETENTION OF THE PETITIONER IN MAXIMUM
SECURITY.

In Tasker v. Griffith, 238 S.E.2d 229 (West Virginia 1977), The Supreme Court of West Virginia faced a situation substantially similar to the situation presented in the Appellant's case. In that case, the petitioner was administratively segregated for an alleged involvement in certain acts of violence at the prison. When placed in segregation, Mr. Tasker was notified that he was under investigation. The Court first found the prison's disciplinary proceedings were properly designed to afford the prisoners their due process rights set in the leading

case of Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974), the Court next examined the procedures which prison officials observe in confining an inmate to administrative segregation before the time that disciplinary proceedings were formally initiated.

The Court recognized the need to protect inmates, staff, and property from anti-ward conduct, and then stated:

Administrative segregation should not be used as a punishment, nor should it be used when the safety of the institution or integrity of the investigation is not at stake . . . We hold that before the placing of an inmate in administrative segregation, the prison authorities must advise him that he is under investigation for misconduct. The inmate should be advised of the specific offense under investigation, unless the prison authorities in their discretion determine that such disclosure would adversely affect the integrity of the investigation. When the investigation is concluded, the authorities must advise the inmate whether he was exonerated, or whether formal disciplinary proceedings will be instituted. . . . Finally, the prison officials must have specific reasons for determining that effective investigation of the charges requires the isolation of the inmate involved. If no specific reason can be articulated, administrative segregation is inappropriate and should not be imposed. . . . We are concerned here only with which looks and feels like punishment, but which is denominated in "administrative segregation".

The Court noted that safeguards were necessary under due process standards to protect inmates facing open-ended

administrative segregation on inmates under the guise of investigation prior to disciplinary proceedings. The Court then stated:

One further limitation must be imposed on prison authorities, however, to insure that easier-accomplished administrative segregation does not become a substitute for disciplinary isolation. That is, ordinarily no inmate can be confined in administrative segregation more than one time for an investigation into each charge of misconduct, and the confinement cannot exceed three days . . . We recognize that the three-day limit is an arbitrarily drawn line, but it seems to us that the petitioner's loss is not so grievous as to require full procedural safeguards when his confinement in administrative segregation extends more than three days.

In setting the three-day limit, the Court noted that the administrative segregation in the prison was usually in a confined cell block setting, or in a solitary confinement, and the prison rules provided that an inmate could be held for a maximum of three days without pending investigation.

In Tasker, the Court awarded petitioner relief even though he had been returned to general population from administrative segregation. The Court stated:

It is obvious that prison authorities could frustrate any means for habeas corpus challenge to their procedures by releasing prisoners from allegedly illegal restraints before the prisoner's case is mature for hearing on our dockets or Circuit Court dockets. To guard against such possibility, we must

be prepared in appropriate habeas corpus cases to grant what amounts to prospective declaratory relief.

The Appellant submits that he should be immediately released from maximum security and returned to his former custody. The records of the prison show that as late as August 17, 1979, he was being held in maximum security and the reason given for such custody was pending investigation or pending charges. At all times pertinent herein, Appellant was denied a prompt disciplinary hearing, or timely hearing on his confinement in administrative segregation.

POINT II

STATE ADOPTED REGULATIONS CREATE AN EXPECTATION PROTECTED BY THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE COMPELLING MINIMAL PROCEDURAL PROTECTIONS AGAINST ARBITRARY AND PROTRACTED ADMINISTRATIVE SEGREGATION.

In Wright v. Enomoto, 434 U.S. 1052 (1978), the United States Supreme Court reviewed the petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus wherein petitioner-inmate complained of denial of due process in the imposition of lengthy segregation pending disciplinary proceedings at San Quentin Prison. The petitioner, as well as other inmates similarly situated, were generally exposed to protracted periods of segregation before disciplinary hearings would be held. The Court found that such procedures were contrary to the correctional institution's adopted rules

and regulations, and resulted in a denial of due process.

The Wright decision, supra, extended Wolff v. McDonnell, supra, as follows:

. . .confinement of an inmate in maximum security constitutes a severe impairment of the residuum of liberty which he retains as a prisoner - and an impairment which triggers the requirement of due process safeguards.

In addition to the foregoing, the Court in Wright, supra, set forth the recognized minimum standard for imposition of administrative segregation as articulated in Wolff, supra, as follows:

. . .a hearing, advanced written notice, opportunity to present witnesses, documentary evidence, and written reasons for the decision. The Court went on to distinguish and require that the written decision must constitute more than a recital that there are pending charges or a pending investigation against the inmate.

Likewise, in the case at bar, the Appellant has an expectation of due process protections created by the rules and regulations of the Utah State Prison. Rule 17-10, Prehearing Detention, provides in pertinent part that:

It is the policy of the Utah State Prison that there be an imposition of pre-hearing detention of inmates who are charged with rule violations.

The procedural guidelines of the foregoing rule provides

in pertinent part as follows:

If the senior officer of the facility in which the incident occurs determines that the incident either warrants an inmate violation report or a hearing by the treatment team, and that the inmate allegedly involved poses a threat to the safety, security, or control of the institution, the senior officer may administratively segregate such inmate (placing him on or pending custody status), pending disciplinary or treatment actions provided that said administrative segregation may not exceed twelve hours without final approval of the warden or the officer of the day. The warden or officer of the day may extend the pending custody status until the appropriate disciplinary committee, or the treatment team conducts a hearing on the matter. Such hearing must be conducted within thirty days of the date of the inmate's initial incarceration in the pending custody status (fifteen days of isolation is used). Prehearing detention shall not be used as a form of punishment, but only when necessary to insure the safety of the inmate or security of the institution. The reasons for pre-hearing detention shall be docketed and filed in the inmate's record. (Emphasis added)

Appellant was not afforded a hearing on his pre-hearing detention in the time frame as provided in Rule 17-10. Appellant was further denied a speedy hearing as required by Rule 17-19 which provides as follows:

It shall be the policy of the Utah State Prison that inmates charged with a major rule violation be granted a hearing as soon as practicable, but not

days, excluding weekends and holidays, after the alleged violation.

Appellant was not given a hearing on the alleged violation until nearly sixty (60) days following the incident, all of which time he was in administrative segregation.

The Utah State Prison Rules and Regulations Rule 17-23 provides for disciplinary detention as follows:

It shall be the policy of the Utah State Prison that the inmate be placed in disciplinary detention for a major rule violation only after a hearing by disciplinary committee; and that there be a sanctioned schedule which sets limits on the disciplinary detention. Procedure requires should an inmate be found guilty of a major rule violation which merits disciplinary detention, the detention will be proportionate to the offense committed, not to exceed fifteen days. An inmate shall be placed in this status only after a hearing by the disciplinary committee.

The Appellant served nearly sixty (60) days in segregation before given a hearing which is a penalty far in excess of the standard proscribed by the above rule.

In August of 1969, prison officials wrongfully reclassified Appellant without hearing, evidence, or findings justifying such reclassification, all in denial of Appellant's due process guarantees as provided in Rule 8 of the Utah State Prison Rules

and Regulations. Rule 8 provides in pertinent part as follows:

The decision of the disciplinary committee must be based upon evidence presented at the hearing, except as provided in 4.1(f). All information on which the committee bases their decision does not need to be presented in either form A, form C, or presented to the inmate during the hearing. However, withholding information on which the decision is reached from the inmate should only be considered in extreme and unusual circumstances. . .

8.2 Major Disposition, (9)

Reduction in classification to a level determined appropriate by disciplinary committee.

a) When this option is chosen the following conditions shall be observed:

1) The individual thus reduced in custody shall not remain in that custody more than sixty (60) days before being heard by the designated classification committee. This committee may choose to continue the classification signed by disciplinary committee or may change a classification to any level deemed appropriate and consistent with the classification procedure. Reductions to maximum security shall be reviewed within thirty (30) days. All of the reduction shall be reviewed within sixty (60) days. The inmate may be moved to a new housing area consistent with the major disciplinary committee decision.

2) The classification as signed as disposition of the disciplinary committee shall become effective at the time of the committee's decision. The final decision is subject to review

made within fifteen (15) days or at the next regularly scheduled meeting. This committee may exercise either of the two options: a) accept the disciplinary committee recommendation; b) reject the committee's decision, substitute another custody. Under no circumstances shall a substitute in custody be more restrictive than that imposed by the disciplinary committee.