1981

Leo Duran v. Lawrence Morris, Warden, Utah State Prison : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 27, 1979, Frank Vaughn, an inmate at the Utah State Prison, was assaulted and stabbed by three inmates. After being removed to the prison hospital, inmate Vaughn informed Warden Morris and other prison officials that appellant Leo Duran, was one of his attackers. Appellant was then administratively segregated and transferred to Maximum Security, pending completion of an investigation of the stabbing and any consequent disciplinary proceedings.

Appellant's custody status was initially reviewed on July 10, 1979 by the Unit Management Team. His custody status was subsequently reviewed; by the Unit Management Team on August 7 and September 11; by the Central Classification Committee on July 23 and August 8; and by the Classification Review Committee on July 27 and August 17. (Appellant's Chronological Notes (hereafter "C-notes"), pp. 5-6, Appendix A).

Prison officials completed their investigation of the stabbing on September 12, 1979. A Major Disciplinary Hearing was held on September 18, 1979, at which appellant was found guilty of possession of a knife and of engaging with

other inmates in the assault upon Frank Vaughn (R.23). Evidence relied upon at the hearing included inmate Vaughn's statement to Warden Morris as well as information acquired from five or six confidential informants (R.22, 23). The disciplinary action taken was to reduce appellant's classification to Maximum Security as provided for in the prison regulations (R.32).

Appellant's custody status was then reviewed by the Central Classification Committee on October 5 and by the Unit Management Team on October 16, November 16, December 11, 1979, and January 8, 1980 (Appellant's C-Notes, p. 7-8, Appendix A).

At the January 8, 1980, meeting, the Unit Management Team recommended that appellant be returned to medium classification. The Unit Management Team concluded that seven months in Maximum Security was of sufficient duration for appellant's involvement in the stabbing. Appellant, however, was maintained in Maximum Security at that time, because of his attempt to smuggle marijuana into the prison and his refusal of a direct order while in Maximum Security. He was subsequently returned to Medium Security on March 17, 1980.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

ADMINISTRATIVE SEGREGATION, AS USED BY UTAH STATE PRISON AUTHORITIES, COMPORTS WITH THE DUE PROCESS REQUIREMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The constitutional rights that accompany a prisoner behind the prison walls and protect him during incarceration are the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment protection against cruel and unusual punishment, Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97 (1976), and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment protection against the imposition of any punishment without adherence to certain due process procedural guarantees, Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974).

The threshold question is whether a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is at stake. Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 571 (1972); Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972). There is no constitutionally guaranteed right to any particular housing, or classification during incarceration. Prison officials may classify, or house inmates wherever and however they wish, absent a punishment purpose therein. Therefore, a change in the classification or confinement of a prison inmate, standing alone, is not sufficient to trigger the protections of the Due Process Clause. Meachum v. Fano,

427 U.S. 215, 224 (1976); Montayne v. Haymes, 427 U.S. 236, 242 (1976); Wolff v. McDonnell, supra, at 556-557; Twyman v. Crisp, 584 F.2d 352, 357 (10th Cir. 1978); Lavine v. Wright, 423 F.Supp. 357, 360 (D. Utah 1976).

State statutes, or prison regulations, however, may create a liberty interest embraced within the Fourteenth Amendment, which is sufficient to invoke the protections of the Due Process Clause. Wolff v. McDonnell, supra, at 557. Such state created liberty interests are as broad as and no broader than the statute or regulations from which they arise. There are no applicable Utah statutes, other than statutes requiring the State Division of Corrections to promulgate prison regulations. Examination must be made of the Utah Prison regulations which were in effect at the time of the acts complained of.

Appellant alleges that he was unconstitutionally confined in Maximum Security and administratively segregated from June 27, 1979, to September 10, 1979. The current prison regulations were passed in November, 1979, and formally adopted on June 30, 1980. Due process rights at the prison in 1979 were fixed by the then applicable prison regulations and not the now current regulations (Utah State Prison Manual of Procedures, June 30, 1980). Most regulations cited in appellant's brief are from the now current regulations. They were not in effect from June 27, 1979, to September 10,

Inmates have a liberty interest where prison regulations give them a reasonable expectation that the rights and privileges they enjoy, while incarcerated, will not be denied them absent the occurrence of specified events. Generally, rules covering the classification and transfer of inmates place no limitations upon the discretion of prison authorities. A change in classification or housing is not conditioned upon the occurrence of a specified event. Where such broad discretion exists no liberty interest is created in the inmates. Daigle v. Hall, 564 F.2d 884, 885-886 (1st Cir. 1977); Lombardo v. Meachum, 548 F.2d 13, 15 (1st Cir. 1977); Wakinekona v. Olim, 459 F.Supp. 473, 476 (D. Haw. 1978); Bills v. Henderson, 446 F.Supp. 967, 973 (E.D. Tenn. 1978).

The court, in Bills v. Henderson, supra at 973, stated that where the purpose of administrative segregation is to provide a place of maximum security for the protection of inmates placed there, or of others from those inmates and to promote institutional security, "[t]he action of prison officials in imposing administrative segregation need not be conditioned upon the occurrence of specified events." Administrative segregation is a preventive, rather than punitive, procedure. It focuses upon the present and future, rather than past, actions of the inmate. Kelly v. Brewer, 525 F.2d 394, 399 (8th Cir. 1975).

The Utah State Prison Regulations, in effect at the time of appellant's reclassification, specifically provided for the imposition of administrative segregation:

. . . when there exists good cause to believe that the control, management, safety, and/or security of the institution, staff, public, or inmates is threatened by the continued presence of the particular inmate in his present housing or custody and that an immediate and temporary change in housing or custody will help to reduce such threat.

(R.38) (emphasis in original).

The Utah Prison Regulations arguably create two liberty interests. The first arises in the initial decision to administratively segregate an inmate in an emergency. The second arises in the subsequent classification review hearings.

To determine whether any due process protections are applicable to the decision to administratively segregate an inmate, this Court must weigh the interests of the inmate against the needs and objectives of the correctional institution. Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539, 556 (1974). In Lavine v. Wright, 423 F.Supp. 357, 364 (D. Utah 1976), the court said:

The institutional interests at the time of an assault on an inmate to protect the safety of other inmates and guards and to provide security in the facility outweigh the limited intrusion on individual interests which are at a minimum when the individual inmate is involved in endangering the security of the institution.

The court also recognized the broad discretion of prison administrators to classify and transfer inmates. Id. at 364.

In the instant case, appellant was implicated in the assault and stabbing of inmate Frank Vaughn. Consequently, he was administratively segregated and transferred to Maximum Security pending completion of an investigation of the incident.

Prison authorities had "good cause" to believe that the safety of the inmates and security of the institution were threatened by the continued presence of appellant in the general prison population. Prison authorities could reasonably fear additional acts of violence by appellant, as well as acts directed at appellant in retaliation for his assault on inmate Vaughn. Violence of this nature threatens the safety of prison staff and the overall security of the institution. The decision to administratively segregate appellant was reasonable and justified. The Court in Lavine held, however, that "[t]he prison administration . . . [had] created a liberty interest in inmates who are subjected to administrative segregation by providing that they will not be confined in maximum security for more than thirty days without a classification hearing." Id. at 365. The purpose of this and subsequent hearings is to review the inmate's continuing custody status.

In Kelly v. Brewer, 525 F.2d 394, 400 (8th Cir. 1975), the court said:

Since there must be a valid and subsisting reason for holding an inmate in segregation . . . where an inmate is held in segregation for a prolonged or indefinite period of time due process requires that his situation be reviewed periodically in a meaningful way and by relevant standards to determine whether he should be retained in segregation or returned to population.

In the instant case, appellant was administratively segregated and transferred to Maximum Security on June 27, 1979. His status was initially reviewed on July 10, 1979, well within the fifteen day requirement (R.37). Appellant's custody status was subsequently reviewed on July 23, July 27, August 7, August 13, August 17 and September 11, 1979. The major disciplinary hearing, regarding appellant's involvement in the stabbing of inmate Vaughn, was held on September 18, 1979, just six days after the investigation was completed (p. 5-6 of Appellant's C-Notes, Appendix A).

These classification review hearings were not perfunctory. At the hearings held on July 23 and August 7, the review committees recommended that appellant be returned to medium security. The reason for this was that each committee was unaware of appellant's involvement in the stabbing of inmate Vaughn. Having found nothing in appellant's record which justified his being continued in

Maximum Security, the committees recommended the change to Medium Security. These recommendations were denied by the Central Classification Committee, since it had information regarding appellant's involvement in the stabbing (p. 5-6 of Appellant's C-Notes, Appendix A). Appellant received meaningful review hearings and was therefore not deprived of a state-created liberty interest without due process of law.

Appellant relies on Wright v. Enomoto, 462 F.Supp. 397 (N.D. Cal. 1976), aff'd mem., 434 U.S. 1052 (1978), for the proposition that failure of prison authorities to follow their adopted rules and regulations results in a denial of due process. In that case, the court extended the due process protections enumerated in Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539 (1974), to the decision to administratively segregate an inmate. Both the California regulations and the facts in Wright distinguish it from the instant case. The court found that under the California rules, ". . . the inmate has an interest, conferred by statewide regulation . . . in not being confined in maximum security segregation unless he is found, for clearly documented reasons, to come within the standard set by the rules." Id. at 403 (emphasis added). Such documentation had to exist at the time the decision to administratively segregate the inmate was made. The reason for this is that the California regulation, unlike the Utah regulation, was not designed to deal with immediate

administrative segregation in an emergency situation. The California regulation required that a hearing be held and that certain procedural protections be observed before ordering administrative segregation. These procedures were not being followed by California prison officials. On the facts of Wright, there was no immediate threat to the inmate, other inmates or to the prison facility. The court concluded that the minimal due process protections called for in Wolff could be applied in the California prisons without threatening prison administration or safety.

Appellant also relies upon Tasker v. Griffith, 238 S.E.2d 229 (W. Va. 1977), to suggest that he may only be administratively segregated for three days pending investigation in a disciplinary proceeding. The court in Tasker based its decision upon the fact that prison regulations in West Virginia expressly set a three day limit. No such limitation existed in the Utah regulations at the time appellant was administratively segregated.

Appellant further asserts that his confinement in Maximum Security following the Major Disciplinary Hearing violated his constitutional rights (Appellant's Brief at 10). Appellant's custody change was not made contingent upon approval of the Classification Committee

(Appellant's Brief, exhibit B); therefore, Rule 8.2(9)(a)1., Utah State Prison Rules and Regulations (Appendix C), is applicable. This rule requires that the classification assigned as a disposition of the disciplinary committee be reviewed within 30 days. Appellant's custody change was initially reviewed and approved on October 5, 1979, just 18 days after the disciplinary hearing.

Subsequently, appellant's custody status was reviewed by the Unit Management Team on October 16, November 16, December 11, 1979, and January 8, 1980. (Appellant's C-Notes, p. 7-8, Appendix A). Appellant's constitutional rights have not been violated.

CONCLUSION

The procedures followed by Utah State Prison officials in initiating and reviewing administrative segregation are consistent with the due process requirements of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. These procedures were strictly adhered to in this case. Appellant's constitutional rights have not been violated. The order of the Third Judicial District Court, dismissing with prejudice appellant's petition for a writ of habeas corpus

should be affirmed.